2-10-82

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE ALLEN MCGOUIRK,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 67,472

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 10 1964

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed February 6, 1984, petitioner was charged with six counts of attempted first degree murder and one count of placing a destructive device (R-14-17). The cause proceeded to jury trial before Circuit Judge Lamar Weingart, Jr., and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty of the following crimes: One count of attempted first degree murder as charged; two counts of attempted manslaughter, as lesser offenses; not guilty of the other attempted murders; and guilty of placing a destructive device, as charged (R-50-51).

On May 29, 1984, petitioner was adjudicated guilty of each count and sentenced to the following prison term: For attempted first degree murder, 15 years with a three year mandatory minimum; for each count of attempted manslaughter, five years, to run concurrently; and for the destructive device, 15 years to run consecutively, with a 10 year minimum mandatory sentence (R-68-77).

On May 31, 1984, a timely notice of appeal was filed by counsel (R-80). On appeal, petitioner argued two issues: That there were no clear and convincing reasons to justify a double departure from petitioner's recommended guideline sentence of 15 years, and that petitioner should not have received consecutive mandatory minimum sentences for the two crimes. The First District disagreed with both arguments. On January 29, 1986, this Court accepted review of this decision.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

William E. Elliott resided in a double wide house trailer with his wife Dora, stepdaughter Cindy, stepson Opie, stepdaughter Emellen, and daughter Marida. The trailer had a gas furnace and central air conditioning, with duct work underneath. He had known petitioner for about a year, and petitioner helped him replace the floors when they were damaged by rain. One morning, in October or November, 1983, Elliott awoke and found petitioner present within the trailer at 5:30 a.m. with his stepdaughter Cindy; he told petitioner to leave and not come back. Later on, petitioner said he was going to "get" Elliott (R-145-59).

On January 19, he was taking a shower when he heard a loud explosion. He called the police and the fire department and noticed that the bedroom floor was ripped out, the ceiling had a hole in it, glass was broken, and the bedroom door had blown open. The duct work had pulled apart and the air conditioner was torn up. Photos of the damage were entered into evidence without objection. The family moved out while the authorities conducted a two week investigation. Cindy was the only person who was injured, and had a cut on her leg. Petitioner had told Elliott that he knew how to make a bomb. A diagram of the trailer was entered into evidence without objection (R-159-71).

Dora Sue Elliott, William's wife, testified that petitioner used to visit the family. One day, she heard petitioner talking to 16 year old Cindy about eloping. On January 19, she awoke while William was showering, and tended to the baby, who slept in their bedroom. After she had fixed breakfast for the children, who were in the kitchen, the explosion went off. She also described the damage to the trailer (R-175-84).

Opie Coleman, age 13, was found to be a competent witness without objection. One day as Opie was walking home from school, petitioner drove up and said he loved Cindy very much and that he would have to do something about Mr. and Mrs. Elliott, either shoot them or blow them up (R-186-93). Garland Deal, manager of a liquid propane gas company, testified that he went to the trailer on January 23 to inspect the propane tank after the explosion. He found no leak in the gas line (R-190).

Investigator Archie Padgett testified that he interviewed Becky and Roy McGouirk and determined that petitioner was a suspect. He recovered bolts, nuts, tape, and burned wire from Becky McGouirk's house (R-206-10). Evidence technician Billy Rivers photographed the Elliott trailer on January 20, and again on January 23, and these photos were entered into evidence without objection. He also took samples of wood from the floor joists and pieces of the duct work, and delivered them to the Alcohol, Tobacco,

and Firearm Office in Jacksonville (R-210-30).

Edward M. DeFoor, an expert in bomb analysis, testified that he went to the trailer and observed the evidence. He determined the explosion was caused by dynamite or gunpowder and its source was under the trailer. It was caused by an electrically-timed bomb triggered by a clock (R-231-45).

Chemist Walter Mitchell examined the screws, nuts, tape, bolts, and copper wire from the trailer and found that they were identical to those found at Becky McGouirk's house. He also analyzed the wood particles and determined that they had been exposed to dynamite. These items were entered into evidence without objection (R-245-58).

Barbara W. Salvonie, a clerk at the TG & Y store in Green Cove Springs, testified that in January petitioner returned an alarm clock to the store because it was defective, and exchanged it for another one (R-263-66). Becky Jean McGouirk testified that she married petitioner in 1977 and they were divorced in 1979. She then married petitioner's brother Roy in 1981. Petitioner came to her house one day and said he loved Cindy and was going to kill George Elliott with a bomb. One week before the explosion, petitioner had a plastic container containing a clock, battery, wires, and screws, and asked her to keep it for him. The night before the explosion, he replaced the clock and batteries and said he was going to put the bomb under Elliott's bedroom. Petitioner returned

to her house at 2:00 a.m. and said he had set the bomb (R-271-90). Jesse Braswell testified that petitioner said he loved Cindy and wanted to do away with Bill Elliott. Petitioner said he could kill Bill without hurting Dora. On January 18, petitioner showed Jesse the container; the next morning, Jesse heard the explosion (R-300-307). The state rested (R-314).

At sentencing on May 29, the prosecutor announced that two sentencing guideline scoresheets had been prepared, one with attempted first degree murder as the primary offense, which called for a guideline sentence of 15 years (R-65), and one with placing a destructive device as the primary offense, which called for a sentence of six years (R-76; 85-88). After further argument regarding an appropriate sentence, the court imposed the sentences noted above (R-89-102). The court justified the departure from the sentencing guidelines by saying orally:

As to this count, the court finds that one, the sentencing guidelines scoresheet does not specifically cover this statute. The court finds that the scoresheet required to be used does not adequately reflect the seriousness of this crime. Further, the court finds that the statutes with which this crime is prosecuted requires a minimum ten-year sentence. This is such a grotesque showing on the part of the defendant which showed an utter disregard for human life and possibility of six people being killed, and the fact that he really only intended to kill one person only, and when asked about killing others, his flip remark about "If anyone else got killed, so

be it." He had a long period of deliberation about what to do. He began building a bomb and it taking two weeks to do it and placed it, that clearly demonstrates the utter disregard for human life. Therefore, the court's going outside of the sentencing guidelines.

(R-100). The court wrote on the bottom of the guideline scoresheet:

The statute requires a ten-year minimum-This crime is so grotesque-showing an utter disregard for human-His long period of deliberation before committing this act clearly demonstrates this disregard.

(R-76).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner will argue in the first issue of this brief that he should not have received a ten year minimum mandatory sentence, imposed consecutively to the three year minimum mandatory sentence. This is because the Legislature did not intend for both of these minimum mandatories to be imposed consecutively in the same case. The ten year minimum mandatory should be ordered to be run concurrently with the three year minimum mandatory.

In the second issue, petitioner will argue that the trial court did not adequately justify the departure from the recommended guideline sentence of 15 years. Petitioner received a total sentence of 30 years. The departure portion, 15 years, was not adequately justified by clear and convincing reasons, and must be struck.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A TEN YEAR MANDATORY MINIMUM ON COUNT VII CONSECUTIVELY TO THE THREE YEAR MANDATORY MINIMUM ON COUNT I.

Attempted first degree murder with a firearm or destructive device requires a three year mandatory minimum sentence pursuant to Section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes. The purpose of this statute is to prohibit parole as well as gain time during this period. Likewise, Section 790.161(3), Florida Statutes, requires a ten year mandatory minimum sentence without parole. Petitioner received both of these, consecutively, petitioner contends that they cannot be imposed consecutively, because the crimes occurred at the same time and in the same place, on authority of Palmer v. State, 438 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983); State v. Ames, 467 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1985); and Suarez v. State, 464 So.2d 259 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review pending, Case No. 66,789, oral argument set for February 17, 1986.

At first blush, the error may appear to be harmless since petitioner, having been sentenced under the guidelines, is not eligible for parole on any part of his 30 year (or 15 year, see Issue II, *infra*) sentence. It is not harmless because while he is not eligible for parole, he is eligible for statutory gain time on the 10 year portion of the mandatory minimum. The three year

mandatory minimum statute expressly prohibits the application of gain time to that portion of his sentence, but the bomb statute does not prohibit gain time from the service of his 10 year mandatory minimum. Thus, he will receive gain time credit of as much as 30 days per month against the 10 year mandatory minimum. Section 944.275(4), Florida Statutes. The three year mandatory minimum should be struck on authority of Palmer and Ames, which would leave petitioner with a 30 (or 15 year, see Issue II, infra) sentence with a 10 year mandatory minimum, for which he would be eligible for gain time.

In Palmer, this Court found that the Legislature did not intend for the three year mandatory minimum to be stacked to allow a minimum of six, nine, twelve... 99 years:

We rely in part upon a fundamental rule of statutory construction, i.e., that criminal statutes shall be construed strictly in favor of the person against whom a penalty is to be imposed.... We have held that "'nothing that is not clearly and intelligently described in [a penal statute's] very words, as well as manifestly intended by the Legislature, is to be considered as included within its terms.'"...Nowhere in the language of Section 775.087 do we find express authority by which a trial court may deny, under subsection 775.087(2), a defendant eligibility for parole for a period greater than three calendar years.

438 So.2d at 3; citations omitted. An examination of

the statutes in controversy is necessary to show that Palmer should be applied to the statutes at issue here.

In 1974, the Legislature adopted the well-known three year mandatory minimum for a firearm. Ch. 74-383, §9, Laws of Florida. That statute also contained the same lesser-known mandatory minimum requirement for one who uses a "destructive device" instead of a firearm. The Legislature had previously defined "destructive device" in Ch. 69-306, §1, Laws of Florida, which has become §790.001(4), Florida Statutes. The 1974 minimum mandatory statute made an express reference to the pre-existing definition of a "destructive device":

Any person who has been convicted of a felony involving a firearm or destructive device as defined in Section 790.001 (4) and (6), Florida Statutes...shall, upon subsequent conviction of a felony involving the display, use or attempt to use a firearm or destructive device as defined in Section 790.001(4) and (6) serve a minimum term of three years.

Thus, the definition of a destructive device was expressly incorporated by reference into the three year mandatory minimum statute. 49 Fla.Jur.2d Statutes §19 at 30-31.

In 1976, the Legislature clarified Section 775.087 (2), Florida Statutes to expressly prohibit statutory gain time from being awarded against the three year mandatory minimum, and to add the word "calendar" to the number of years:

Any person who is convicted of any murder...or any attempt...shall be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 3 calendar years. ...Nor shall the defendant be eligible for parole or statutory gain time under ss. 944.27 or 944.29, prior to serving such minimum sentence.

Ch. 76-75, §2, Laws of Florida. The Legislature retained the express reference to the definition of a destructive device.

During the same session, the Legislature increased the penalty for discharging a destructive device where bodily harm or property damage occurred. More importantly, the Legislature also added a 10 year mandatory minimum for this crime:

If the act results in bodily harm to another person or in property damage, shall be guilty of a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.084, and the person shall be required to serve a term of imprisonment of not less than 10 calendar years before becoming eligible for parole.

Ch. 76-38, §2, Laws of Florida, which has been codified as Section 790.161(3), Florida Statutes. Please note that the same term "calendar" appears in this session law as well as in Ch. 76-75, §2, Laws of Florida. Please note also that the Legislature expressly prohibited parole consideration during this 10 year period, but said nothing about gain time. Thus, petitioner should be eligible for gain time during his 10 year mandatory minimum.

It is well-settled that statutes, especially those passed during the same session, must be read together and harmonized. 49 Fla.Jur.2d Statutes §176 at 211-12. Since the Legislature created the 10 year mandatory minimum at the same session in which it clarified the three year mandatory minimum, and used the same language, it is obvious that the Legislature did not intend for the 10 year mandatory minimum to be stacked on top of the three year mandatory minimum.

Now enter the guidelines. Of course, one sentenced under the guidelines has no right to parole, but still retains his right to accumulate statutory gain time. Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes. In State v. Ames, supra, the defendant was sentenced prior to the guidelines and received consecutive three year mandatory minimum terms. This Court may recall that some of the oral argument in Ames, held on February 7, 1985, conducted by the undersigned and the same counsel for respondent, focused on the effect of the guidelines on the Palmer decision. While not necessary to its decision, this Court, in applying Palmer to Ames' consecutive three year mandatory minimums, noted that the result would be the same if Ames had been sentenced under the guidelines:

In our view, Section 775.087(2) was not intended to mandate the imposition of mandatory minimum sentences for each offense enumerated within the statute when those offenses are committed during a single, continuous criminal episode. To so interpret

Section 775.087(2) would significantly amend the statutory schemes which relate to parole and sentencing guidelines. See §921.001, Fla.Stat. (Supp. 1984) (directing this Court to develop sentencing guidelines); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701.

467 So.2d at 996. The Second District properly so held in Suarez, supra. Thus, Ames must be extended to expressly hold that any type of mandatory minimum sentences imposed under the guidelines cannot be imposed consecutively.

The state may argue the intervening decision in State v. Enmund, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1985) somehow affects the instant case. In Enmund, this Court held that one convicted of two first degree murders could receive consecutive 25 year mandatory minimum sentences. One difference between Enmund as compared with Palmer and Ames, is this Court's finding in Enmund that: "Here, however, we have two separate and distinct homicides." Id. at 168. In the instant case, a single bomb exploded at the same time and place that petitioner attempted to also murder the victim. They were not "two separate and distinct" crimes.

A second distinction is based upon the wording of the 25 year mandatory minimum statute:

A person who has been convicted of a capital felony shall be punished by life imprisonment and shall be required to serve no less than 25 years before becoming eligible for parole.

Section 775.082(1), Florida Statutes (emphasis added).

Compare this statute with the language of the three year mandatory minimum: "Any person who is convicted of any murder...or any attempt...." This Court has held that where the Legislature uses the article "a" in defining a term, it intends for that term to be "a separate unit of prosecution." Grappin v. State, 450 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1984). On the other hand, when the Legislature uses the article "any" in defining a term, it intends for that term to encompass all offenses within that term. State v. Watts, 462 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1985). Thus, it was the Legislature's clear intent to allow stacking of 25 year mandatory minimums in first degree murders, by use of the article "a", while to preclude the stacking of three year mandatory minimums in any other enumerated crime or attempt, by use of the article "any".

A third distinction between Enmund, and Ames, is that the guidelines never come into play when one is sentenced for a capital crime. Section 921.001(4)(a), Florida Statutes. Thus, this Court's decision in Enmund should have no bearing on the instant case.

In summary, then, petitioner has demonstrated that the First District was incorrect in holding that consecutive mandatory minimum sentences are permitted when a defendant is given a guideline sentence. This Court must reverse the First District and remand with

directions that the three year and 10 year mandatory minimum sentences be served concurrently.

ISSUE II

THERE ARE NO CLEAR AND CONVINCING WRITTEN REASONS TO JUSTIFY A DOUBLE DEPARTURE FROM PETITIONER'S RECOMMENDED GUIDELINE SENTENCE OF 15 YEARS.

Before proceeding with this argument, several preliminary matters must be addressed to fully this Court of what petitioner is not arguing. First, while there was some dispute below as to which scoresheet to employ, the undersigned believes that the category 1 scoresheet was proper (R-65) since it is the lowest numerical category, and also calls for a harsher sentence, in accord with either version of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(3)(b). Likewise, as that scoresheet was prepared with attempted first degree murder as the primary offense, and as it recommends a 15 year sentence, which is the sentence petitioner received for that offense, the undersigned will not argue that the 15 year sentence for attempted first degree murder is excessive.

One could argue that seven points for slight victim injury should not have been assessed on this scoresheet, since Mr. Elliott suffered no injury. Cindy Coleman received a cut on her leg, but since petitioner was acquitted of any charge as to Cindy, her injury should not have been scored. However, since the deduction of seven points from the scoresheet would not effect the

recommended sentence, petitioner will not contest those seven points.

Petitioner will attack the consecutive 15 year sentence imposed for discharging a destructive device, since that is in excess of the guidelines. The basic argument is that there was no basis for a valid departure. The offense at conviction was discharging a bomb. It is defined by statute as:

A person who makes, possesses, throws, places, discharges, or attempts to discharge any destructive device, with intent to do bodily harm to any person or with intent to do damage to property....

Section 790.161, Florida Statutes. This offense in and of itself is rather terrible and reflects the Legislature's concern over the horrible results which may result from it. The facts of virtually any bombing could give rise to numerous aggravating circumstances. Cf. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1973) (To an ordinary person, almost every capital offense appears to be heinous). If trial judges are going to be able to emphasize the elements inherent in or normally accompanying each offense and base departures on those elements, the guidelines will denigrate into a farce.

No mere recounting of the facts of the crime, in the manner of the trial judge here, should suffice as justification for departure from the guidelines, or else

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