IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDASID

GEORGE ALLEN McGOUIRK,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FEB 21 19 ßß CLERK SUPREME COURT B Chief Deputy Clerk 67,472 CASE NO.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General

JOHN W. TIEDEMANN Assistant Attorney General The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

Therefore, because the rationale of the *Palmer* decision renders it inapplicable when sentencing under the guidelines, we find that it does not operate to forbid the consecutive mandatory minimum sentences imposed in this case.

5

The State realizes that the <u>Enmund</u> Court stated that the two homicides involved therein were "separate and distinct," 476 So.2d 165,168. However, these homicides were in fact committed during the same criminal episode. See <u>Enmund v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 1981), reversed on other grounds, <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782 (1982).

<u>Id</u>., 470 So.2d 31,32.

Petitioner, in focusing upon the trees of irrelevant statutory constructions and analogies, fails to see the 👘 forest here - i.e., that the Legislature and this Court have determined that the amended §§775.021(4) and 947.16(2)(g) require that the overcrowding of Florida's prisons should not be solved through creative judicial interpretation of mandatory minimum sentencing statutes. See State v. Caride, 473 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). Petitioner's swing-forthe-fence proposition that "any type of mandatory minimum sentences imposed under the guidelines cannot be imposed consecutively" ("Brief of Petitioner on the Merits", p. 14) is simply wrong - when a judge exercises his §775.021(4) prerogative to run two sentences consecutively, §947.16(2)(g) requires that any mandatory minimum portions thereof must be served consecutively. And if the Legislature had felt that deprivation of eligibility for gain time during the pendancy of a stacked §775.087(2)(a) mandatory minimum sentence was unduly harsh given the §921.001(8), Fla.Stat. ineligibility of defendants sentenced under the guidelines for parole, it would doubtlessly have contemporaneously legislated to this effect.

-14-

# ISSUE II

THE QUESTION OF WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY DEPARTED FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES IS NOT PRESENTED FOR EITHER CERTIORARI OR COLLATERAL REVIEW; ALTERNATIVELY, THE JUDGE ACTED PROPERLY.

#### ARGUMENT

Petitioner also essentially alleges that the First District reversibly erred in holding that the trial judge was entitled to sentence him to a sum total of thirty years of consecutive imprisonment for attempted first degree murder and placing a destructive device, in departure from the 1984 Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(3), 3.701(d)(12), and 3.988(a) recommended aggregate sentence of fifteen years, because petitioner in placing the destructive device leading to these adjudications had knowingly premeditatedly and in utter disregard for human life created a great risk of death to six persons. For two reasons, the State disagrees.

The State would again initially contend that petitioner's failure to tender a specific contemporaneous objection to the reasons advanced for the sentencing guideline departure constituted an irrevocable procedural default of the right to seek either direct appellate, certiorari, or collateral review thereover. In support of this contention, the State again relies upon its arguments in the pending cases of <u>Whitfield</u>, <u>Dailey</u>, <u>Thomas</u> and <u>Chaplin</u>.

The State would secondly contend that the trial judge properly ordered petitioner to serve a sum total of thirty

-15-

years of imprisonment. The State would begin by marvelling at petitioner's clever method of accounting. As noted, the aggregate recommended sentence for all of petitioner's offenses was only fifteen years. By agreeing that a fifteen year sentence for the attempted first degree murder was not excessive, petitioner would put the trial judge in the position of having to either impose a concurrent (i.e. basically meaningless) sentence for placing the destructive device, albeit that that crime carries a ten-year mandatory minimum term which the judge would otherwise have been authorized to impose consecutively under §775.021(4), or depart for reasons pertaining solely to this latter offense. The State believes that the reasons advanced for the judge's departure pertain to both aforeindicated major offenses, and when assessed in that light, should easily survive this Court's scrutiny. That a defendant's placing of a destructive device so as to knowingly premeditatedly and in utter disregard for human life create a great risk of death to many persons legally justifies a sentencing departure inevitably follows from the fact that such actions in the course of a successful first degree murder may result in a sentence of death rather than life imprisonment. §921. 141(5)(c) and (i), Fla.Stat. That the placing of a destructive device here did factually endanger six people should be beyond debate. Petitioner's essential claim that an aggravated sentence was unjustified because there was nothing in these facts to set his crimes apart from a routine placing of a

-16-

destructive device misses several points. First, one may violate §790.161(3) without the comprehensive malice petitioner exhibited simply by placing such a device either with the intent to damage <u>property</u> or to harm <u>one</u> person. Second, one may violate this statute without the excessive premeditation petitioner exhibited simply by impulsively placing a device which he either did not personally construct or constructed for legitimate industrial purposes. Petitioner's crimes were far from routine even for their ilk, they were hideous, and the trial judge properly recognized that these crimes mandated an aggravated sentence.

## ISSUE III

THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI AS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED DUE TO LACK OF JURISDICTION.

#### ARGUMENT

"Jurisdictional errors are fundamental and may be raised at any time, 'particularly where such error goes to the jurisdiction of the appellate court to hear the appeal'", Thomas v. State, 472 So.2d 1221,1223, quoting in part 3 Fla.Jur. 2d Appellate Review, §300; compare Cochran v. State, 476 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985). The State thus elects to again present here its argument, once rejected without explanation, that this Court lacks jurisdiction in this cause because petitioner's petition for certiorari was not timely filed, cf also Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985), in the respectful hope that this action will cause the Court to "feel like the mule which the farmer kept hitting over the head with a board to get its attention" and change its mind, State v. Calhoun, So.2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), 10 F.L.W. 2677,2679 (Glickstein, J. concurring on motion for rehearing granted). As has been cogently stated:

> The integrity of the process requires that courts state reasons for their decisions. Conclusions easily reached without setting down the reasons sometimes undergo revision when the decider sets out to justify the decision. Furthermore, litigants and the public are reassured when they can see that the determination

> > -18-

emerged at the end of a reasoning process that is explicitly stated, rather than as an imperious ukase without a nod to law or a need to justify.

P. Carrington, D. Meador and M. Rosenberg, Justice on Appeal, pp. 31-32 (1976), quoted by H. L. Anstead, "Selective Publication: Better Than Nothing At All?", Florida Bar Jour mal, December 1984, pp. 651,654. See <u>State v. ex.rel.</u> Jaytex Realty Co. v. Green, 105 So.2d 817,819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958), cert. discharged, 112 So.2d 571 (Fla. 1959), stating that appellate courts should write opinions to resolve recurring legal questions in order to provide guidance for members of the legal community. The State respectfully submits that if this Honorable Court attempts to explain in writing its refusal to dismiss petitioner's petition as untimely in light of its own prior precedents it will find itself simply unable to do so.

In <u>State v. Kilpatrick</u>, 420 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1016 (1983), this Court essentially held that a district court's decision shall be considered rendered, for purposes of commencing the thirty day time period within which the losing litigant must invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under Rule 9.120(b), when the district court denies a properly filed mandatorily reviewable Fla.R.App.P. 9.330(a) motion for rehearing, rather than when the district court denies a nonmadatorily reviewable post-decision motion (in that case, an unauthorized Fla.R.Crim.P.

-19-

9.331 motion for rehearing en banc) and issues its mandate. It thus follows that petitioner was required to file his notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction within thirty days of the First District's June 18 denial of his motion for rehearing and simultaneous issuance of its final opinion in this cause, rather than within thirty days of its July 9 denial of his nonmandatorily reviewable motions for certification of conflict and stay of mandate and simultaneous issuance of its mandate as petitioner has previously maintained. Petitioner's aforestated reliance upon Goode v. Hialeah Race Course, Inc., 246 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1971) for the implicit proposition that a consistently losing district court litigant is essentially entitled to move for rehearing twice despite Rule 9.330(b), which prohibits this practice, was misplaced. In Goode, this Court merely and uniquely intimated that aparty who originally loses on all fronts in a district court, but who wins a partial victory upon his motion for rehearing granted, is entitled to pursue to a resolution his requisite one motion for rehearing concerning the court's new decision. No party in Goode filed two motions to rehear essentially the same district court decision;<sup>6</sup> consequently, Goode cannot be read to overrule Rule 9.330(b) sub sile ntio. Moreover, this Court could not have granted petitioner leave to file a belated petiton for writ of certiorari upon the rationale that his publicly employed counsel was ineffective for failing to timely invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, insofar as there is no right to counsel,<sup>6</sup>

<sup>6</sup> See Homer v. Hialeah Race Course, Inc., 249 So.2d 491 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970).

effective or otherwise, in discretionary proceedings. See <u>Wainwright v. Torna</u>, 455 U.S. 586 (1982) and <u>Mitchell v.</u> <u>Wyrick</u>, 727 F.2d 744 (8th Cir. 1984); see generally <u>Polk County v. Dodson</u>, 454 U.S. 312 (1981).

Petitioner's failure to file his notice to invoke this Court's discretionary review within thirty days of the First District's denial of his motion for rehearing requires that this cause be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction under <u>Kilpatrick</u>. In the State's view, the only way in which this Court's preliminary decision not to dismiss the petition in <u>McGouirk</u> is consistent with its decision to dismiss the petition in <u>Kilpatrick</u> is that the identity of the losing party in both cases is the same, and of course this Court does not base its decisions upon the identities of the parties. Therefore, it must be that the Court denied the State's motion to dismiss in <u>McGouirk</u> because it decided that <u>Kilpatrick</u> was no longer good law. The State urges the Court to either renounce <u>Kilpatrick</u> explicitly or, preferably, to revitalize Kilpatrick by reversing itself in McGouirk.

There are sound policy reasons for refusing to permit losing appellate litigants the luxury of awaiting the outcome of post-rehearing nonmadatorily reviewable motions to alter district court opinions, based upon either requests for certification of conflict or anticipated decisions from this Court, prior to filing their own petitions to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. First, district courts

-21-

unfortunately cannot always be counted upon to interpret this Court's decisions correctly. See, e.g., Richardson v. State, 472 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), review granted (Fla. 1986), Case No. 67,570, misapplying a number of this Court's prior precedents in a manner contrary to its subsequent decision of State v. Jackson, 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985). Secondly and just as importantly, Rule 9.330(b), as noted, affords all losing appellate ligitants one motion for rehearing; for a district court to modify its decision with a certification or modify its mandate in the event of a subsequent decision of this Court favorable to a losing litigant, as petitioner unsuccessfully moved the district court to do below, would be effectively afford that litigant a prohibited second rehearing, as also noted, see Merchant's National Bank of Jacksonville Grunthal, 22 So. 685 (Fla. 1987); cf Bay Area News, Inc. v. Poe, 364 So.2d 820 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1979); but see Hayes v. State, 452 So.2d 656 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984), modifying Hayes v. State, 448 So.2d 84 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Morgan v. Amerda Hess Corp., 357 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert. denied, 364 So.2d 880 (Fla. 1978). Petitioner might rely upon Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981) for the proposition that a district court is entitled to stay its mandate pending the disposition of a related case by this Court, but such reliance would be misplaced; the mandate-staying procedure prescribed in Jollie pertains only to defendants who have personally preserved their opportunity for review in this Court by

-22-

filing timely petitions for writ of certiorari, see R.L.W. v. State, 409 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), review denied, 417 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1982), and does not relieve litigants whose claims have been rejected at the district court level from their obligation of personally filing for same. Although the district courts do have the technical power to stay or recall the issuance of their mandates for at least the duration of the term in which an antecedent decision has issued so long as the losing party retains the at least theoretical possibility of having this decision reversed by a higher court, see generally State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co. v. Judges of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, 405 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1981), Gardner v. State, 375 So.2d 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), and §35.10, Fla.Stat., there is no legal mechanism through which a prodefense decision by this Court in Suarez could have been parlayed to petitioner's benefit in the First District once that court had denied rehearing. Cf Barnett v. State, 444 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), in which the First District held that a district court decision cannot legally conflict with a subsequent decision of the same court for purposes of entitling the losing litigant to a rehearing en banc; see generally La Grande v. B & L Services, Inc., 436 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) and State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co. v. Judges of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District. If there was to be any favorable action on petitioner's consecutive mandatory minimum sentencing claim after the

-23-

denial of petitioner's motion for rehearing, it would have had to have come from this Court upon a timely filed and accepted petition for writ of certiorari, not from the First District upon modification of its mandate in a manner contrary to its own once reaffirmed decision.

Note that in <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922,925 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 967 (1980), this Court stressed the need for finality in criminal judgments as follows:

The importance of finality in any justice system, including the criminal justice system, cannot be understated. It has long been recognized that, for several reasons, litigation must, at some point, come to an end. In terms of the availability of judicial resources, cases must eventually become final simply to allow effective appellate review of other cases...Moreover, an absence of finality casts a cloud of tentativeness over the criminal justice system, benefiting neither the person convicted nor society as a whole.

Appellate litigants such as petitioner who have first lost district court decisions and have then lost their motions for rehearing have been increasingly, if usually futilely, relying upon motion to stay mandates pending this Court's review of related cases as a subtle method of obtaining yet another bite at the apple of justice, as if appeal, one rehearing, and certiorari were not enough. It is time this Court put a stop to these prohibited second motions for suspended rehearings by writing an opinion here explicitly condemning the practice. In summary, this Court should dismiss petitioner's petiton for writ of certiorari as improvidently granted due to lack of jurisdiction occasioned by an untimely filing under <u>Kilpatrick</u>.

### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE respondent, the State of Florida, respectfully submits that this Honorable Court must either DISMISS petitioner's petiton for writ of certiorari or, alternatively, AFFIRM the decision of the First District.